IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

4TH DCA CASE NO.: 93-3025

FILED SID J. WHITE FEB 23 1996

MARTIN COUNTY,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Petitioner,

vs.

MELVYN R. YUSEM, ETC.,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT D. GUTHRIE Martin County Attorney 2401 S.E. Monterey Road Stuart, FL 34996 (407) 288-5441 by GARY K. OLDEHOFF Assistant County Attorney Fla. Bar No. 449679

CASE NO. 87,078

INTRODUCTION

This case raises the most significant question about local governments' ability to plan for future growth since the passage of the Growth Management Act in 1985: whether the Act changed the fundamental balance of powers between the judiciary and local and state land use authorities in future growth management and land use planning. The simple issue raised by this case is whether an amendment to the future land use map designation of a particular property in a local government's comprehensive plan is a legislative or quasi-judicial matter. The question certified by the Fourth District Court of Appeals was drafted in light of this Court's decision in <u>Board of County Commissioners of Brevard County</u> <u>v. Snyder</u>, 627 So.2d 469 (Fla. 1993) (hereinafter <u>Snyder II</u>):

CAN A REZONING DECISION WHICH HAS LIMITED IMPACT UNDER SNYDER, BUT DOES REQUIRE AN AMENDMENT TO THE COMPREHENSIVE LAND USE PLAN, STILL BE A QUASI-JUDICIAL DECISION SUBJECT TO STRICT SCRUTINY REVIEW?

Phrased another way, the question may be:

IS A PLANNING DECISION RELATING TO AN AMENDMENT TO THE COMPREHENSIVE LAND USE PLAN WHICH HAS A LIMITED IMPACT UNDER SNYDER A QUASI-JUDICIAL DECISION SUBJECT TO STRICT SCRUTINY REVIEW?

The question should not hinge on the fortuitous circumstance that a rezoning or other development order was also applied for or considered. The answer should not be one way if a landowner applied for a rezoning or other development order and another way if he did not. Therefore, stated in its most basic, the question can be rephrased:

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY ATTORNEY MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

IS THE PLANNING DECISION TO AMEND A LOCAL GOVERNMENT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN BY CHANGING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION FOR A SPECIFIC PROPERTY LEGISLATIVE OR QUASI-JUDICIAL?

The question, no matter how it should be phrased, must be answered in the negative. The adoption and amendment of local comprehensive plans are always policy-making decisions. The creation of a comprehensive plan is the formulation of future policies. An amendment to that plan is a change in that policy a change constituting the formulation of new policy.

The instant case is a perfect illustration of this point. Yusem's property and 900 acres surrounding it were the subject of a formulation of policy in the Plan that the area would constitute a "reserve area" for possible urban development in the future. The County also formulated a policy this area would not be immediately provided capital facilities, or planned for construction of capital facilities to facilitate development at urban densities. The amendment in question necessarily would have required changes in those policies and a new reformulation of policy.

This matter was a legislative proceeding, and the County's decision not to adopt Yusem's amendment should have been upheld as fairly debatable. The passage of the Growth Management Act did not usher in an opportunity for the courts to change the fundamental balance of power between the judiciary and local and state land use authorities on matters of planning.

Had the trial court applied the appropriate analytical standard for legislative actions, the evidence amply established that the County's rejection was fairly debatable. Judgment should

have been entered for the County.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case is a landowner's challenge to the Martin County Board of County Commissioners decision not to amend the Martin County Comprehensive Growth Management Plan (hereinafter "Plan") to authorize higher densities of development on the landowner's property.

THE MARTIN COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND THE SUBJECT PROPERTY

In February, 1990, the County adopted the Plan in accordance with the requirements of the 1985 Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, Laws of Florida Chapter 85-55; Florida Statutes Chapter 163, Part II.

Yusem's property is located in an approximately triangular tract of 900 acres of rural and undeveloped land. The subject property is in the center of the bottom axis of the triangle. (Exhibit 1) The Plan's land use element designated Yusem's property and the rest of the 900-acre tract "Rural Density Residential", which allowed up to 1 residential unit per 2 acres.

The tract was included within the Plan's Urban Service District, (Transcript, p. 459). The boundary of the District is Cove Road, an east-west dirt road that is immediately south of the Respondent's property. (Exhibit 62, Figure 4-5) The Urban Service District contains far more land than is necessary to accommodate future population. (Transcript, p. 590) Some areas of the Urban

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY ATTORNEY MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

Service District are currently designated by the Plan for rural densities because they are rural in character and not appropriate for urban development at this time. The area in which Yusem's property lies is one such area. (Transcript p. 643) Other areas, which are already developed or suitable for development at urban densities pesently or in the near future are designated for urban densities.

The Plan states that this tract is not an area presently intended to be available for urban densities. It is expressly described as a "potential reserve area for future urban/suburban development". (Exhibit 62, Section 4-2A(5), p. 4-14)

The Plan also contains a concept called "Active Residential Development Planning Preference" (ARDPP), as well as provisions throughout the Plan which place limitations upon amendments and development approvals to assure compact urban development and encourage infill development. These policies are designed to counter pressures to "sprawl," or develop prematurely, at the fringes of the Primary Urban Service District. (See, generally testimony of Henry Iler, Transcript, p. 565-574)

Yusem's property is 54 acres in the middle of this 900-acre tract of rural designated land. The tract presently contains nurseries, grazing lands, and homes on large tracts. (Transcript, p. 435-437) Other than the construction of the Pinewood Elementary School with an access road, there had been no development in this area for several years preceding the adoption of the Plan in 1990, (Transcript, p. 433), and little or no change in the character of

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY ATTORNEY MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

the area. (Transcript, p. 437) Based upon continued agricultural classifications and agricultural activities, the area is viable for rural uses such as large tract homesites, nurseries, and grazing, and homes have sold in the area. (Transcript, <u>Id</u>.). Therefore, the rural designation and zoning are compatible with character of the 900 acres surrounding the subject property. Minimal infrastructure exists in the area, and it is of the type which is compatible with rural uses and densities and the land continuing to be rural in nature and designation.

The community character of the area is rural. Yusem's land was actively being used for cattle grazing. (Transcript, p. 323, 436), and had an agricultural classification for ad valorem tax purposes. (Transcript, p. 324). Adjacent properties to the north of the subject property include single family homes on lots ranging in size from 1.6 to 4.3 acres. The property to the south is vacant. The property to the east consists of a church and day care facility, and a single family home on 4.8 acres. To the west is a single family home on 9.04 acres and the Fern Creek subdivision, containing 24 lots of one half acre each. (Exhibit 46, p. 4)

Existing uses in this 900-acre tract are vacant lands, flower farms, farmlands, tropical fish farms, and extensive acreage utilized for grazing. (Exhibit 1; Exhibit 1-A; Transcript, 435-437). There are also dirt roads in this area, including the east and south borders of Yusem's property. (Transcript, p. 624) With the exception of the construction of the Pinewood Elementary School and a spur extension of Willoughby Boulevard to serve that school,

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY ATTORNEY MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

there have been no changes in the area or its fundamentally rural character between 1986 (Transcript, p. 433), and February 20, 1990, the date of adoption of the Plan. Nor did changes occur between February and October 16, 1990, the date of the challenged Board decision (Transcript, p. 431). The parties stipulated to the following distances from Yusem's property to the nearest development: (Transcript, p. 8)

To site of future hospital	: .63 miles
To U.S. 1 (nearest major highway to east)	: 8052 ft; 1.53 miles
To water and sewer lines	: 1545 feet
To Indian River Community College Entrance	: 4993 ft; .9 miles
To Pinewood Elementary School	: 5058 ft; .95 mi.
Distance to SR-76 (nearest major highway to west)	: 6,355 ft.
Distance to Woodlands development	: 3,697 ft.
Distance to Martin Meadows development	: 5,078 ft.

YUSEM'S APPLICATION AND THE COUNTY'S ACTIONS

In September 1989 (four months before the Plan was adopted) Yusem applied to the County to change the Plan's future land use map designation for the property from Rural Density Residential (1 unit per two acres) to Estate Density Residential (2 units per acre). (Exhibit 7) Yusem also applied for agreement to rezone the property if the amendment were made to Planned Unit Development(R)

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY ATTORNEY MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

in accordance with a 60 unit master plan agreement.¹

Yusem contended that the County was required to make the Plan amendment because the property was located in the Urban Service District. Yusem also contended that the amendment was justified on the basis of existing development outside the 900-acre tract which was approved and constructed years before the adoption of the Plan. The Plan provides that when the County's staff reviews a future land use map amendment application, it <u>may</u> recommend that the Board of County Commissioners <u>consider</u> making an amendment if there are "past changes in land use designations in the general area", or "growth in the area, in terms of development of vacant land, and redevelopment".² (Ex. 62, p. 1-8) The changes and growth must occur after the adoption of the plan. (Id.)

On May 1, 1990, the Board of County Commissioners considered the applications at a comprehensive plan amendment transmittal hearing³. The Board considered whether it was interested in

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY ATTORNEY MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

¹ As will be described in more detail later, according to Martin County Ordinance, Planned Unit Development zoning districts are negotiated zoning districts which are authorized in lieu of straight zoning districts.

² Yusem will likely argue that this provision of the Plan requires the Board of County Commissioners to limit their discretion. However, a plain reading of the Plan language proves that this language is a guideline for the <u>staff</u> reporting on the application and not a limitation on the County Commission. The pertinent words are "staff can".

³ The Growth Management Act provides that the amendment of an adopted Plan proceed in two stages - transmittal and adoption. §163.3184, 163.3187 Fla. Stat. (1995). In the first stage, the local government considers only whether to submit the possible amendment to the State for further review. The State then provides a report on the amendment, concerning its compliance or noncompliance with the Growth Management Law. Thereafter, in the

transmitting the amendment to the Florida Department of Community Affairs for review and response by the State and its land planning agencies in accordance with the Growth Management Act. At the Board hearing, the County's staff offered a report concluding and recommending that the amendment should not be made, and at least two commissioners discussed opposition to the transmittal on the grounds that the proposed land use map amendment was not appropriate at the time. (Exhibit 31) By 3-2 vote the Board of County Commissioners nevertheless voted to transmit the amendment.

On August 29, 1990, the Department of Community Affairs issued its response to the proposed amendment. It issued a formal objection, pursuant to §163.3184(6) Fla. Stat. (1989) (Exhibit 56). The Department notified the County that its Plan could be held not in compliance with the Growth Management Law if Yusem's amendment was adopted. Fla. Admin. Code R. 9J-11.001(6); §163.3184(8) Fla. Stat. (1989). (Exhibit 56) The Department's report concluded:

"The County should consider abandoning the amendment," (Exhibit 56, p. 4)

When the amendment was again considered for adoption on October 16, 1990, the staff report again concluded that the amendment should not be made and again recommended rejection. (Defendant's Exhibit 45) Residents in the 900-acre tract voiced their opposition to the amendment and the changes in the area that it would engender (Exhibit 62, p.38). They noted that a change to

second stage, the local government can "adopt the amendment, adopt the amendment with changes, or determine that it will not adopt the amendment." §163.3184(7) Fla. Stat. (1995).

Yusem's property would preordain an immediate change of the entire 900-acre tract to urban densities and development because it would be impossible to prevent additional amendments due to Yusem's location in the center of the tract. (Exhibit 31, p.31) The Board of County Commissioners decided not to adopt the amendment.

Because the land use designation of the property was not changed, the Board of County Commissioners never considered the rezoning request since the request was patently inconsistent with the Plan without the requested amendment. (Transcript, p. 153-154). Thus, there has never been a decision by the Board of County Commissioners on the requested rezoning request⁴.

THE TRIAL COURT'S ACTIONS

The trial court's Final Judgment finds that the Board of County Commissioners' decision not to adopt the amendment was based solely upon a finding that the amendment would constitute "leapfrog development". (R. 557). This specific finding, however, is not consistent either with the motion passed by the Board, which made no specific mention of the term "leap-frog development" (Exhibit 62, p. 37), the comments of the commissioners themselves, or the evidence presented at the trial. The bases were urban

⁴ Martin County stipulated that Yusem's rezoning application was denied. This, however, should not be inferred to mean that the Board of County Commissioners actually adopted a motion to deny the rezoning application. The reason for this stipulation was that the rezoning was not granted. In fact, and as is confirmed by the record, the rezoning application was never acted upon because it became moot when the comprehensive plan amendment was rejected.

sprawl, character of the surrounding area, present lack of capital facilities to accommodate urban growth in the area, that the amendment was neither a logical nor timely extension of more intense land uses, conflicts with Plan goals, and inconsistencies with the Plan. (Exhibit 62; Exhibit 46; Exhibit 45). The Board of Commissioners' motion was to adopt the "staff County recommendation" (Exhibit 62, p. 37) which was contained in the report. No reference is made to the term "leap-frog development" in either the staff's report or the Board's motion.

At trial, Yusem's witnesses testified that the existing land use map designation for the subject property was inconsistent with the Plan because it was located within the Plan's urban service district. (Transcript, p. 214) They testified that the proposed amendment was consistent with the property's location by virtue of its location in that district regardless of the surrounding rural development pattern. (Transcript. p. 213).

The County's witnesses testified that there have been no changes in land use patterns in the 900-acre rural tract containing Yusem's property,⁵ and that current infrastructure and future improvements are a function of rural land uses and designations in the area. (Transcript, p. 792) In addition to the lack of planned infrastructure to facilitate development of the tract at the densities requested in Yusem's amendment, the infrastructure necessary to serve water and wastewater needs for the proposed use

⁵ This was confirmed by Yusem's witnesses. (Transcript, p. 219)

of the land was not available, (Transcript p. 224-225), and had to be provided by Yusem. Water lines to serve the proposed use were proposed to be extended some 1545 feet by Yusem. Yusem even had to increase lot sizes to qualify for use of septic systems, rather than sewers because the property was too far from sewer lines. (Transcript p. 224)

Henry Iler, the County's Growth Management Director at the time the amendment was considered, testified that the amendment was in conflict with six major policy clusters of the Plan, each of which justified the County's decision not to adopt the amendment. (Transcript, p. 611-675). Robert Pennock, Comprehensive Plan Review Administrator of the Department of Community Affairs, testified that the adoption of this amendment would constitute a failure by the County to discourage urban sprawl and would, therefore, violate state law. (Transcript, p. 739-740). Pennock also testified that the Department would have objected to this amendment if it had been adopted. (Transcript p.743-744)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Yusem filed a Verified Complaint pursuant to §163.3215 Fla. Stat. (1990),⁶ followed first by a Petition for Certiorari, Martin County Case No. 90-1200-CA Makemson, and then this action, a declaratory judgment action under F.S Chapter 86 with requests for

⁶ This process is not applicable to landowners. <u>Parker v.</u> <u>Leon County</u>, 627 So.2d 476 (Fla. 1993).

injunctive relief. Yusem voluntarily dismissed his *certiorari* petition.

The declaratory judgment/injunction action had five counts. The case went to trial on all counts on Unilateral Pretrial Statements on December 21, 1992. Yusem presented four witnesses: the attorney who represented him before the County, the planner who drew his proposed Planned Unit Development for the subject property, a professor of urban planning, and Yusem, the Respondent, The County presented testimony from the real estate himself. manager of the Martin County Property Appraiser's Office, the County's director of development review, the supervisor of the Clerk of the Martin County Commission, the County's former Growth Director, its Utilities Department Director. Management Transportation Engineer, and the Comprehensive Plan Review Administrator of the Department of Community Affairs.

On September 15, 1993, the trial court issued a Final Judgment finding for Yusem on Counts I, II, and IV, and in favor of the County on Counts III and V. (R. 560). Despite the unmistakable fact that the case was a three-day trial *de novo*, the trial court's judgment was based on <u>Snyder v. Brevard County</u>, 595 So.2d 65 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) (hereinafter <u>Snyder I</u>), a case which was subsequently reversed in pertinent part by this Court in <u>Snyder II</u>. Indisputably, the case was filed and tried as a declaratory and injunctive action, not an appeal in *certiorari*.

The County appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeals. On August 30, 1995, by 2-1 vote, the court issued a decision

reversing the Final Judgment because it found that the proceeding in question was quasi-judicial. <u>Martin County v. Yusem</u>, 664 So.2d 976 (4th DCA 1995). The majority only considered one of the County's points that the proceeding was legislative - that the amendment did not have a limited impact on a limited number of persons or properties. <u>Id</u>. at 977. Because Yusem had voluntarily dismissed his separate petition for *certiorari*, and this action was filed more than thirty days after the County's decision was rendered, the majority concluded that the trial court had no jurisdiction.

Judge Pariente issued a lengthy dissent in which she observed that the majority was simply wrong in its analysis of the law in general and <u>Snyder II</u>, in particular, and had "ignored" the potential implication of the amendment on the 900-acre tract and the policies already embodied in the County's Plan. Judge Pariente opined that the County's proceedings were undeniably legislative in character.

Martin County filed a motion to certify the general question: WHETHER THE ADOPTION OF COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE GROWTH MANAGEMENT ACT IS A LEGISLATIVE OR QUASI-JUDICIAL ACTION?

The court granted the motion, but certified a far less general question:

CAN A REZONING DECISION WHICH HAS A LIMITED IMPACT UNDER SNYDER, BUT DOES REQUIRE AN AMENDMENT OF THE COMPREHENSIVE LAND USE PLAN, STILL BE A QUASI-JUDICIAL DECISION SUBJECT TO STRICT SCRUTINY REVIEW?

Martin County took this appeal.

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY ATTORNEY MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The certified question should be answered in the negative. The amendment of a comprehensive plan under the Growth Management Act is not a quasi-judicial decision subject to strict scrutiny review. It is a legislative matter reviewable under the fairly debatable rule that is applied to all challenges to legislative actions. The trial court should have considered this case the original *de novo* action that it was and applied the established rules for challenges to legislative decisions of local governments.

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