Od 7
	FILED SID J. WHITE
	MAY 23 1996
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA	CLERK, SUPREMIE COURT By Chief Deputy Storts

MARTIN COUNTY,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 87, 078 District Court of Appeal 4th District - No. 93-3025

MELVYN R. YUSEM, Trustee,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

THOMAS E. WARNER Fla. Bar No. 176725 TIM B. WRIGHT Fla. Bar No. 823551 Attorneys for Melvyn R. Yusem, Trustee Warner, Fox, Seeley, Dungey & Sweet, Attorneys, P.A. Post Office Drawer 6 Stuart, FL 34995-0006 (407) 287-4444

INTRODUCTION AND NATURE OF THE CASE

This matter is before the Court under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), Fla. R. App. P., for discretionary review of a decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, which on rehearing, certified the following question to the Court as being of great public importance:

CAN A REZONING DECISION WHICH HAS LIMITED IMPACT UNDER <u>SNYDER</u>, BUT DOES REQUIRE AN AMENDMENT OF THE COMPREHENSIVE LAND USE PLAN, STILL BE A QUASI-JUDICIAL DECISION SUBJECT TO STRICT SCRUTINY REVIEW?

The Martin County, a political subdivision of the State of Florida (the "County") was the Appellant below, and Defendant in the trial court. Melvyn R. Yusem, Trustee ("Mr. Yusem") was the Appellee below, and Plaintiff in the trial court.

The transcript will be referenced as "T" and a page number. The record on appeal will be referenced as "R" and a page number. Evidence will be referred to as "Pl." or "Def." and an exhibit number, with a page number where appropriate. Copies of documents in the appendix filed with this answer brief will be referenced as "A" and a page number.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Statement of the Facts and Statement of the Case of the County do not fairly or accurately represent (and in some instances affirmatively misrepresent) the facts and the actions taken by the trial court below. The County argues the facts in its brief because it apparently disagrees with the factual findings of the trial court. The County has omitted relevant information and many of the County's factual representations are unsupported by the record or taken out of context. A detailed description of the County's misstatements and misrepresentations is included in the last section below.

Mr. Yusem's Statement of the Facts and Statement of the Case

Ŷ

This case involves Mr. Yusem's application to the County to develop 64 single family residential lots on 54 acres of undeveloped land in Martin County, Florida. (T,436) Mr. Yusem's property (the "Property"), is located on Salerno Road, approximately 1 1/2 miles west of U.S. 1, and 3/4 of a mile east of State Road 76. (R,434) The Property is located in the Port Salerno planning area for the Capital Improvement Element of the County's Comprehensive Growth Management Plan (the "Plan"). This planning area is a large area bordered on the north by Indian Street; to the south by Cove Road; to the east by the Intracoastal Waterway; and to the west by the St. Lucie River. (T,490-91) This area includes a major shopping center, other significant commercial areas, a community college, a hospital, an elementary school, a large residential development of regional impact, and several other residential developments, including condominiums and subdivisions. (T,83-93)

To develop the Property, Mr. Yusem requested rezoning from A-1 (Agricultural) to PUD (Residential) and a land use change under the Plan from Rural Density (.5 units per acre) to Estate Density (up to 2 units per acre). (T,435,436) Although at the time of the application the Plan designated Mr. Yusem's Property as Rural Density, the Property was in the Plan's Primary Urban Service District¹. (R,434;435) The Primary Urban Service District is reserved for residential densities of two units per acre and up and its purpose, among other things, is to cluster residential development in areas where capital facilities already exist or

¹In February of 1990, the County divided its Urban Service District into two categories, Primary and Secondary, and placed Mr. Yusem's Property in the Primary Urban Service District. (R,435)

where they can be placed most efficiently. (A, 22; R,434; Page 4-40 of Def. 62) The Plan articulates the following Objective for Primary Urban Service Districts:

"1. OBJECTIVE

9 .4

4

Martin County shall concentrate higher densities and intensities of development within strategically located Primary Urban Service Districts, as delineated including commercial or industrial uses, as well as residential development exceeding a density of two (2) units per acre, by this Growth Management Plan, where all forms of public facilities are available or are programmed to be available, at the base levels of service adopted in the Capital Improvement Element." (Page 4-40 of Def. 62)(Emphasis added.)

Mr. Yusem filed his application for the rezoning and land use amendment in

September of 1989 and asserted that he met the standards for a land use amendment under the Plan (T,79; R,435; Pl. 7). The Plan provides for amendments if: "past changes in uses in the general area make the proposed use logical and consistent with those uses, and if there are adequate public services available" or "if growth in the area has altered the character of the area such that the proposed land use is reasonable and consistent with the uses in the area." (Page 1-9 of Def. 62).

In support of his application for rezoning and a land use change, Mr. Yusem established the following facts regarding changes in uses, character, and development in the general area of his Property (which all occurred after his Property was designated Rural Density):

1) Pinewood Elementary School was constructed approximately 3/4 of a mile east of the Property; (R,436)

2) An I-95 interchange was opened on State Road 76; (R,437)

3) Salerno Road was reconstructed to meet County standards and designated as a

major arterial road on the Thoroughfare Plan, providing access to I-95; (R,437)

4) Indian River Community College is located approximately 3/4 of a mile from the Property; the college has 2000-3000 students and expects to double in size; (T,376)

5) The County approved the Willoughby development, which is a large residential DRI with densities more intense than Yusem was seeking, and which lies north of the Mr. Yusem's Property between Indian Street and Salerno Road; (R,437)

6) Martin Memorial Hospital obtained a Certificate of Need and had begun construction of a 100 bed hospital on Salerno Road, approximately 1/2 mile east of the Property (future plans include an office building for doctors, a 120 bed nursing home, a 60 bed rehab hospital, and the site for the county library; (T,376; R,437)

7) A major shopping center was located at the intersection of U.S. 1 and Salerno Road, approximately 1 1/2 miles east of the Property; (R,437)

8) Several residential subdivisions are on Salerno Road between U.S. 1 and State
Road 76 which have densities of 2 units per acre and up (Martin Meadows, The Woodlands,
Myers' Estates, Paramount Estates, Hibiscus Park, Coral Gardens). (R,438)

The County staff report to the Local Planning Agency (the "LPA"), and to the Board of County Commissioners, concluded that Mr. Yusem's proposed project "was consistent with all development criteria in the Martin County Code and the Approved Comprehensive Growth Management Plan; that it was consistent with the level of services and the concurrency requirements for Category A and C type facilities in the Capital Improvement Element of the Comprehensive Plan." (T,72) However, the staff recommended denial on the alleged basis that there had been no change in any of the surrounding property and no change in neighborhood character. (Page 2 of Pl. 29)

ź

Ê

The LPA reviewed and approved Mr. Yusem's applications after a public hearing and forwarded them to the County with a favorable recommendation. (T,73) At its meeting of May 1, 1990 (and despite staff recommendation of denial) the County voted to approve the LPA's favorable recommendation of the requested rezoning and land use amendment and directed that the amendment be sent to the Department of Community Affairs (the "DCA") for its statutory review. (Page 79 of Pl. 31; R,438)

The County forwarded Mr. Yusem's proposed land use amendment, along with proposed Plan amendments for other properties throughout the County, to the DCA for its review. (R,438) However, the County staff did not send the DCA any data or analysis in support of Mr. Yusem's requested land use amendment. (T,255,500,504,524; R,439; Pl. 84) The County staff did send DCA their own report recommending denial and several letters of protest from some citizens in the area. (T,113-14,521) In response, the DCA issued its Objections, Recommendations and Comments report ("ORC Report"), with the following comment on Mr. Yusem's Property:

"The proposed amendment does not include an analysis which demonstrates that the more intense development requested is the logical extension of a more intense land use designation in the nearby area. The County should consider abandoning this, or alternatively, revise the data and analysis to demonstrate that the proposed amendment is a logical extension of a more intense land use designation in a nearby area." (Pl. 56; T,108)(Emphasis added.)

The County staff did not supply the revised data or analysis to the DCA prior to the application coming back to the County for final approval on October 16, 1990. (T,500,504; R,439)

At the October 16th County meeting, no additional evidence or data was supplied to the

County (other than the ORC Report) and there were no changes in circumstances which occurred since the County's favorable vote on May 1,1990. (T,716-720) The County reversed its prior decision and voted (3 to 2) to deny Mr. Yusem's requested land use amendment and PUD (Residential) rezoning application on the basis that the proposed development would constitute "leap frog development." (Pl. 64, page 36) The County then passed a resolution, *sua sponte*, to rezone Mr. Yusem's Property to RE-2A (Rural Estate District) which restricts density to .5 units per acre (the "Rezoning Resolution"). (R,439)

A transcript of the October 16, 1990 meeting of the County reveals the basis for the denial of Mr. Yusem's applications: "leap frog" development. (Pl. 62) On page 26 of the transcript, Mr. King (the County's Planning Administrator) stated:

"The information we have currently available, and the policies within the Comprehensive Plan re (sic) the issues we're addressing here, and the responses that we have on these pages 8 and 9, if you want I can go into those in detail, are specifically on the basis of those **DCA objections** that have been filed, and **the critical one**, yes is the issue of the potential **leap frog development** in this development approval." (Pl. 62)(Emphasis added.)

Also, the following are "comments" of Commissioners at the October 16, 1990 hearing

as they appear in the transcript:

1

Ç,

On page 30, Commissioner Dawson: "The leap frog question is still the same question it was months ago." (Pl. 62)

On page 31, Commissioner Dawson: "... I think their big issues - to the urban sprawl, leap frog development issue is a very big issue to the State." (Pl. 62)

On page 31, Commissioner Hurchalla: "I think that the sprawl or **frog** or whatever, it is when you are the hole in the donut, with one or other little piece like it out there, but everything surrounding you is one per two acre, **is the real problem**." (Pl.

On page 36, Commissioner Thom: "Well, I think the whole thing boils down to what we're talking about is the uh rural density residential land use, and I think the DCA would consider that in this particular instance, probably **leap frog development** in spite of the fact it is whether it is or not, in the urban area in this particular case...." (Pl. 62)

These are the three Commissioners who voted to deny Mr. Yusem's application. (Page 41 of Pl. 62)

During the trial, the trial court asked Mr. King the following questions and received the

following answers:

4

By the Court:

Q "I have heard some testimony, I have heard some

testimony that their reason for doing it was leap frog

development."

By Mr. King:

A "The overall issue of urban sprawl was brought up at the meeting. I think it was pertinent within the staff analysis early on within the original public hearing."

By the Court:

Q "Did staff urge that it be denied because it would be leap frog development?"

By Mr. King:

A "Yes, as I recall."

62)

(T, 526)

ĩ

ç,

Finally, there was an additional significant fact presented in the evidence to the trial court. As required, the staff prepared a formal response to the ORC Report and sent it to the DCA. (T,705) Aside from the comments on Mr. Yusem's Property, the ORC report contained DCA comments on the other requested land use amendments on various properties throughout the County, all of which required a response from the County. (Pl. 67; T,705) Apparently overlooking the fact that the County voted to deny Mr. Yusem's application at the hearing on October 16,1990, the County staff prepared and included the following justification for the requested land use amendment on Mr. Yusem's Property in its overall formal response to the DCA:

"Considerable growth has occurred along Salerno Road in recent years. Numerous residential subdivisions and the Indian River Community College, the IRCC campus have been built, and additional institutional growth may occur along Salerno Road with the development of a planned hospital facility. Residential densities similar to the proposed amendment are located west of the parcel south of Salerno Road. The subject parcel is also located in the Primary Urban Service Area and through the PUD agreement establishes a density at 1.3 units per acre. These factors indicate that this amendment would represent a logical and timely extension of a more intense nearby land use within the immediate vicinity." (T,705-6; Pl. 67)(Emphasis added.)

On January 3, 1991, Mr. Yusem filed an action in the Circuit Court against the County for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief. (R,1) The case was tried before the court on December 21, 1992, on Mr. Yusem's Amended Complaint and the County's Answer (R,215, 235). Mr. Yusem alleged, *inter alia*, that his application was consistent with the Plan; in compliance with applicable standards and regulations; and was "a logical and timely extension of more intense land use designations in nearby areas." (R,215; A, 4) Mr. Yusem also alleged that the County's denial of his application and the subsequent re-zoning of his Property was inconsistent with the Plan; not supported by substantial evidence; denied him due process and equal protection; was arbitrary and unreasonable; and that the Plan and Rezoning Resolution as applied to Mr. Yusem was contrary to law and unconstitutional. (R,215; A, 12-16)

1

ų,

After receiving the evidence and having heard the arguments of counsel, the trial court made the following findings of fact:

- 1. Plaintiff, MELVYN R. YUSEM, as Trustee, owns a 54 acre parcel of undeveloped land in Martin County.
- 2. In 1989, YUSEM filed an application with Martin County seeking an amendment to the County's comprehensive land use designation of his land from rural density (.5 units per acre) to estate density (2 units per acre). Simultaneously with the application to amend the land use designation, Plaintiff filed a petition to rezone the property to PUD (r).
- 3. The application for the land use amendment was reviewed by the Martin County staff and presented to the local planning agency. After reviewing the requested amendment, the local planning agency recommended approval.
- 4. The application came before the County Commission on May 1, 1990. The staff recommended denial of the application on the grounds that the application for land use amendment was premature. The Commission, by a vote of three to two, moved recommendation of the requested amendment and directed that the amendment be sent to the Department of Community Affairs (DCA) for its statutory review of comprehensive land use amendments.
- 5. Martin County staff sent the recommendation to the DCA without sending any of the findings of the Commission that justified the request.
- 6. The DCA reviewed the proposed amendment and submitted its Objections, Recommendations and Comments (ORC) to the County. The ORC stated that the proposed amendment did not include an analysis that demonstrated that the more intensive development requested was a logical extension of a more intense land use designation in the nearby area. The ORC stated that according to the data and analysis presented, the area is predominantly rural and agricultural. The DCA recommended that the County either abandon the amendment or revise the data and analysis to demonstrate that the proposed amendment is a logical extension of a more

intensive land use in the nearby area.

ţ.

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